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. DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO
AFFIDAVTT

1, Drew McCandless, Special Agent (SA) of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI),
United States Deparument of Justice, Washington, D.C., having been duly sworm, stale:

INTRODUCTION

I am an investigative and law enforcement officer of the United States who is empowered
by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for offenses enumerated in Title 18 ofthe
United States Code, including Sections 1956 and 1937, as amended.

1 aam & Spesial Agent of the T and have been so cuployed fus uves iine (9) yeats. Hiave
been assigned to criminal squads specializing in crimes involving public corruptionand money
Iaundering, 1 have participated in the investigation of MICHAEL MONTOY A, ROBERT VIGIL,
SAMANTHA SAIS-MONTOYA, and others.

LOCATION TO BE SEARCHED
This affidavit is being submitted in support of an application for authorization 10 search the
Mew Mexico State Treasurer's Office 2019, Building K Galisteo Road, Santa Fe, New Mexico,
further described as a one story tan stuceo building. Located near the entrance to the business
complex and on the rear of Building K is sign which states "Treasurer of the State of New Mexico”
ina New Mexico state seal, Across thetop of the front doors 1o the building is the following"New
Mexico State Treasurer Office”.

It is your Affiant's belief that MICHAEL A. MONTOYA, SAMANTHA SAIS-
MONTOYA, ROBERTE. VIGIL, and others known and unknown are engaged ina racketeer
influenced and corrupt organization, and have been active, leading participants in the organization
since at least 1999, Furthermore, based on the facts set forth below, vour Affiant believes that the
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fruits. evidence, and instrumentalities of crimes commitied by MONTOY A et al. against the United

States are presently concealed at this location including all outhuildings, sheds, garages, and vehicles
on the property.

|

THE NATURE OF THE CONSPIRACY

Your Affian: submits that based on the facts outlined in this affidavit, there is probable

cause 1 believe that MICHAEL A. MONTOY A SAMANTHA SAIS-MONTOY A, ROBERT

E. VIGIL, and others known and unknown to me have unlawfully entered into, confederated,

conspired and agreed to acts which are in violation of federal laws. to wit: the interference with
interstate commerce under the color of official right, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1951{a)(1}; interstate wransportation in aid of racketeering enterprise, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1952(a), receiving income derived from 2 pattern of racketesring
activity, in violation of Title 18 Section 1962(a) and 1962(b) and the laundering of monetary
mstuments and enpaging in monetary transactions from specified unlawful activity, in violadon of Tide
18, United States Code, Sections 1956 and 1957,

As aresult of my participation in this investigation and reports made (o me by Special
Agents of Federal Bureap of Investigation, 1 am familiar with the circumstances of the offenses
described in this affidavit. The written statements contained in this affidavit are based in parton
information by Special Agensofthe FBI and written reports provided by Special Agents ofthe FBI
and others in law enforcement, information provided by reliable Cooperating Witnesses(CWs),
public record information, bank records and on my experience and background as a Special Agent
of the FBI, as well as, that of my {eliow FBI Special Agents and others in law enforcement, some of
whorn possess over fifieen (15) years experience in public corruption and money laundering
investigations. |have set forthonly those facts, information, and conversations, thatbelisve are
essential to establish the necessary foundation for an order authorizing a search warrant On the basis
of this familiarity, | allege that the faets contained in the nffidavit reveal n conpirucy being conducted
by MICHAEL A, MONTOY A, SAMANTHA SAIS-MONTOYA, ROBERT E. VIGIL, and
their associates, known and unknown, 1o interfere with interstale commerce under the eolor of official




right.

FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES
icipal
This investigation involves finance manars conducted by the New Mexico State Treasurer's
Office(NMSTO). The following paragraphs briefly explain the finance maners pertinent io this

{ |investigation but are not exhaustive of the duties of the NMSTO.

There are primarily two levels of financial investments which the NMSTO manages: initial
or primary issue and secondary markel investment. Initial issue is primarily bond issuance. Bond
issuance is one method by which government entities finance and raise funds for capital improvements
and the operation of public agencies. Bonds are written showing an issuer's (public entity's)
obligation to pay back, with interest, a principal of money at a specified later date, They are vehicies
by which governmenis borrow money. Afierthe issuance of a bond, the issuer has a larce pool of
assets/cash which it may not need for an extended pn'in.:-i_

Secondary market investments are the investing of assets/cash after the boad procesds
have beenrealized. They may include investing in US Government Securities, commercial paper
issued by private corporations, asset backed obligations and repurchase agreements. For purposes
of this affidavit only, repurchase agreements will be more fully explained. Repurchase agreements
are for the purchase of collateral using assets/cash which will be sold at a specified time in the furure
ataspecified price. The difference between the purchase price and resale price is the interest income
of the repurchase agreement. There are two kinds of repurchase agreements. Fixed repurchase
agreements allow the total assets to be invested for the entire investment period. Flexible repurchase
agreements allow fora draw down of the assets at specified times. Forexample, this method isused
by municipalities that need funds to build aroad over time, Repurchase agreements are conducted
through brokerage firms. The firms provide bids to the NMSTO related tothe interest rate they will
pay for the repurchase agreement. The firm with the highest rate normally recaives the repurchase
agreernent.

The following is a flexible repurchase agreement example. The state possesses bond
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| proceeds. The state must pay the interest on the bonds, for example 1.5%. Since the bond money
15 not normally needed all at one tirme, the swate can investitin repurchase agreements. In flexible
repurchass agreements, the state establishes a draw schedules which outlines when the state will need
1o withdraw money from the repurchase agreement. As the money is drawn down the balance
decreases and what remains is returned 10 the state a1 the end of the lerm of the repurchase
agreement. The term normatly runs from six months to three years. A brokerage firm invests the
bond proceeds ata specifisd rate. This rate is often slightly above the bond interest rate. Ingensral
these are low risk investments with low returns. One objective for the state is to have no cost for
1ssuing the bonds.

The NMSTO has approximately four billion dollars a year to invest. The NMSTO utilizes
| financisd or investment advisors Lo assist in the investment of these funds, The WMSTOemploysin-
house investment advisors and conmacts with ootside investment advisors. The in-house advisors
are paid New Mexico State employees. The outside investment advisors deal primanily in repurchase
agreements and securines marksts.

The outside investment advisors act as mmddle men inthe repurchase agreement between
the NMSTO and brokers. Once the NMSTO decides to invest in a repurchase agrecment, the
investment advisor contacts three brokers who each provide an interest ratebid for the repurchace
agreemeni, The investment advisor advises the NMSTO of the rates and the State Treasurer
decides which broker wins the repurchase agreement. The winning broker executes a contract with
the NMSTO. The outside advisor is paid & commission from the brokerage firm that won the
repurchase agreement bid. The commission is based on the size and duration of the coniract.

Although the NMSTO does not pay the outside advisor commission, it is aware of the commission

structure. The contract between the NMSTO and its outside advisors references the rate of
commission and maximum allowed commission. The individual repurchase agreements with the
winning broker, that the NMSTO must approve and sigﬁ. also reference these commissions.
Generally the commission has ranged between 3,75 and 5 basis points per deal from 199910 the
present. This manslates 10337,500 to $50,000 commizsion on a £100 million repurchase agreement,
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CASE BACKGROUND - ™ -
This investigation was predicated opa Emper&uag W‘:mss{ﬂ W1y who advised thet
| MICHAEL A. MONTOYA, former New L}ﬁnﬁn‘Smlc Trr:asurr:r and ROBERT E. VIGIL,
current MNew Mexico State Treasurer, received "kickbacks” from Investment Advisors who invested
New Mexico Swute funds at the Treasarer's direction. Thisallegation was independently confirmed
by ancther Cooperating Witmess{CW2). Your Affiant believes that both CW1 and CW32 have
provided extensive relizble information due to the fact that much of the information was already
known to Special Apents of the FBI and other law enforcement apd has been corroborated o the
extent possible by law enforcerent and public record source information as well as financial records.
CW1 and CW?2 have provided reliable information including but not limited 1o addresses, welephone
numbers, and motor vehicle information which has been corroborated through independent means

{ including utility records, property records, telephone records and Department of Motor Vehicles

records.

CW1 has provided information and documents which have been corroborated by

independent sources and CW1 has wmerous consensual rec‘._:rrdihgs, which have proven
B

scourate. 1t should be note CW1 was underinvestigation by the United States S=eret Service

[

formanufacturing counterfeit muncyanﬂadn‘u'tfs]m The charges were dropped as the xeroxed

money contained sports hero picnures mdwasmr.mdad for Christmas gifts. CW] cooperated with
the FBI, but was terminated from the New Mexico State Treasurer’s Office(NMSTO) due to mis-use
of state property.

CW2 has also provided information which has been independently comroborated through

| | bank records, travel records and interviews and has made numerous consensual recordings which

have been independently corroborated through telephone records and surveitlance . CW2 has plead
guilty 1o a violation of Title 18 United States Code 1951, commeonly referred 1o as the Hobbs Act.
On September 1, 2005 CW2 was indicted on securities fraud by the State of New Mexico Atterney

Genzral's Office.
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MICHAEL MONTOYA was zlected New Mexico State Treasurer in Movember 1 994,
wok office in January 1995 and served until December 2002, Shontly afier waking offics
MONTOY A began contracting with outside investment advisors. The firstinvesmment advisors
assisted in establishing repurchase agresment for use by the NMSTO. The investment advigor
position wasadvertised through a Request for Proposal(RFP) for investment advisor services. The
| investment advisor was selected by a commitiee within the NMSTO with input from MONTOY A.
Afier selection, the investiment advisor signed a contract with the Stare of New Mexico. The
contracts were approved by the New Mexico Board of Finance which oversees the operations of
the NMSTO,

The first investment advisor providad investment advisor services for cpproximately 18-24
months starting in 1995, Although CW1 did not personally receive kickbacks for MONTOY A on
the first advisor's behalf, CW1 did leam from MONTOY A that the first advisor paid campaign
contributions to MONTOYA in exchange for investment business.

The second investment advisor also provided investment advisor services for approximately
two years, MONTOY A directad CW | to mest with the second advisor both in California and New
Mexico for the explicit purpose of receiving kickbacks. On :lppmxlmaltlythm: occasions, CW1

T

received §15,000-$30,000 in cash directly from the m::nud advisor. CW1 provided this ::ﬁh

o — e TS

bir ONTOYA. CW1 had no other relationship with the second investment advisor other_

then to receive cash.

The third nvestmentadvisor was PETER SIMONS. SIMONS is acooperating witness
L Lkt

—

and has been immmml_ﬁwuun |mi|mmvesnﬂunun_ﬂbdﬂﬂs-m=dmmr fmm
approximately October 1927 till November 1995. SIMONS was introduced 1o ! MUNTD‘:’ﬁ

:h.mugh a third p-'lrr:f After the mu'cldw:tmn SIMONS completed a IESpONSE 10 2 RFP for

= T

mﬂmmadumr which he knew was merely a formality 1o being selected. Am:rdmgtn SIMONS,

——

———— .

dqu'lgﬂ'u: first meeting with MDHTG":"A, EIMDNS wasle.dm believe by MDHT{}':’A mmmm

WMW. According 1o MONTOYA, this requirement is "thl‘: Wy we dn
hu:am:ss in New Mexico. The requirement was Il'lﬂl MONTOYA would participate in tl'il:

o —— - Ar & coms—— T

————
rcv:nuesl[cﬂnmsmns] ewned by SIMONS. SIMDHS paid MONTOYA 16.6% ﬂf his
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Icnrmnissiuna.

a SMENS S personally delivered cashio. MONTOY.A on thres separate occasions. ranging

f'rmn $4,000-510,000. On one gecasion | S]MCINE traveled to New Mexico. was picked up by

1 MDHTD?&, was driven by MGNTCI'\'A to the NMSTO ’bm]dmg in Santa Fe and handed

MONTOY A an envelope containi ni £100 bills, in his car in the parking lot of the NMSTO.
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SIMOMS also delivered money o C;'-\‘Iggpl‘ﬂ#mab:lyﬂﬂ ﬂm&mwm:masmgmunﬂ CW1

i confirms that he was instructed by MONTOY A to fly to Los Angeles, CA for the sole purpose of
obtaining the payments, CW1 returned to New Mexico with these cash payments and delivered
them directly to MONTOYA.

The fourth mvmmadvmmmﬂﬂ‘&ﬂh From January 2000 till December

e e e — - e

'-'IDI:I':, NELSON received approximatehy $3.8 m:ILnn mm::m He pmd:ppm:cmmly 82.5
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million in paymenisto CW2., CW2 initially provided MONT@®YA's pDI'I:lDﬂ \of the cash 10 CWT
CW1 then delivered cash to MICHAEL MONT®Y A or made purchases of assets e.g. vehucles,

using MONTOY A's payment but putting the assets in CW1's name so as to avoid detection of

unexplained wealth for MONTOYA, As MONTOYA became more familiar with CW2,

MONTOY A allowed CW2 to pay MONTOY A directly in cash and checks. MONTOY A received

e

approximately $1.1 million from NELSON's commissions.

o ——
-\-'-I-' —l——'_'_-_

Kent Nelson
Ir;ﬁgﬂhmﬂhmm&nﬁamﬂhmngh_n@ch MONTOY A solicited kickbacks and

received bispayments using KENT NELSON as investment advisor. CW2 met MONTOY A in
1995 through a muatual friend. CW2 has never been an employes with the WMSTO and has never

had any official relationship with the NMSTO, MONTOYA and CW2 discussed potertial business
dealings with the state. Although C'W2 was not a broker or invesiment advisor, MONTOY A asked
him if he knew any investment advisors. At this time SIM®NS was the investment advisor and was

——ln

| notaware that g replacement advizor was being sought by M@NT®YA, MONTOYA, C'W1 and
—

CW?2 had several meetings together regarding the investent advisor pasitio, Atone such mesting

INTOY A explicitly stated that he wanted 30% of the investment advisor's cormmission, that the
—— e e _-_____._--—'_

7

o e




14 b Lad P

=1 O

‘!mf-ﬂsﬁnentadmmrwasmpmfm:tﬂ.'{ﬂsmﬂm 30% and that CW 1, CW2 andthe lnvesu'nm advisor

——— —— — =

u.uulﬁ sphtm:r:nmnd:mf m:mmhtmmm:nmwm MDNI UY A made

the 2 statement to the following effect: “You deal with me and want my busingss. you give 8 eut.1-

— T
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Shertly thereafter, CW2 met KENT MELSON, an investment advisor from San Diego.
California. CW? set up a meeting with MONTOYA and NELSON. Afier the mesting,
MONTOY A advised CW?7 thar NFILSON would "work® mmmhdﬂﬂﬁfﬂ mean
that NELSON would pay kickbacks 1o MG’!\I‘I‘DY_{L. NELSON responded to a Request for

Propaosal for an investment advisor and NELSON knew that CW?2 was working with MONTOYA
to secure the comtract. NELSON also contacted MONTOY A directly with questions regarding

—_—
armm the RFP where he lacked experience, MONTOYA advised him on how to answer the

=

quﬂﬂlﬂm CWE provided NELSON with SIMDNE response to the RFP. A copy of SIMONS'

RFP response indicated that SIMONS had partieipated in over 375 bond proceed
reinvestments{repurchase agreements). NELSON, up to that point in his career, had never done 4
repurchase agreementand was working with individual investors. NELSON won the contract and
began to work as the investment advisor for the NMSTO in approximately December 1999, Asthe
investment advisor, NELSON was entitled to the commissions generated {rom the repurchase
agreements.

C'W2 provided an example of the commission split. On a $100 million placement,
NELSON would receive 5 basis points or $50,000 commuission. 30% of the 350,000 went 10
MONTOYA. The remainder went 1o pay the taxes, CW1, CW2 and NELSON." For the first
approximately nine months, MONTOY A did nottrust CW2 enough 10 receive payments directly
from him. CW2 received payment via cash ransfers and wire transfers from NELSON. CW2 kept
his share and provided cash to CW1 for both CW1 and MONTOY AL

Forexample, bank records of NELSON and CW2 have besn obtained via Federal Grand

Jury subpoenas and confirm the transfer of funds betwesn the two accounts. These transfers

! According Internal Revenue Service tax records, NELSON did not file taxes from 1998 to 2062, In

2003, NELSON income tax filing indicates income far below what he received in the previous years, Itis
vour Affiant's opinion that NELSON used the tax portion to purchase assets.
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occurred shortly after the receipt of commissions by NELSON. Forexample on July 19, 2002,
| NELSON received a ﬂ';fjffﬂ}ﬂ commission deposit. On July 22, 2002, NELSON transferred
lSZH,SﬂGinm CW2's bank account. Of note is that the majonty of transfers were cash withdrawals
miade by NELSON and then deposited into CW2's account. The effect is that there is no immediats
identification of who the cash went 1o or where it came from, thus disguising its origin. CW2 confumns
that transfers from NELSON were for payments to MONTOY A for Ninancial contracts.

After approximately nine months, MONTOY A began to receive his cut directly from
CW2. CW2 estimates that MONTOY A received approximately $1.1 million in an 18 month
period. Approximately 66% of NELSON's commissions were sent to CW2 during MONTOY A's
lenure,

CW1 maintained spreadshests made contemporaneously , which were provided to the
FBI, of the amounts owed and paid to MONTOY A from NELSON commissions. Also referenced
in these spreadshests are notes relating to NELSON whereby CW2 needs to discuss MONTOY A's
cul with NELSON and see if balances were correct. Also referenced in the spreadsheets were
pavments to VIGIL's campaign for State Treasurer.

Toward the end of MONTOY A's term, MONTOY A stated 10 CW?2 that if VIGIL won
the election VIGIL would do the same thing regarding the commission cuts. CW2 understood this
to mean that VIGIL would provide repurchase agreement business to NELSON in exchange for 2
portion of the commissions received by NELSON. Additionally, according to CW1, when
MONTOY A was Jeaving office at the end of 2002, he told NELSON that be would continue 1o have
VIGIL provide businsss to NELSON if MONTOY A stll received his cut.

VIGIL State Treasurer tenure

From 2000 till his election as State Treasurer, ROBERT VIGIL was the Deputy State
Treasurer under MONTOYA. Inhis position as Deputy State Treasurerto MONTOYA, VIGIL
approved and signed repurchase agreements that showed commissions to NELSON and he also
often represented the NMSTO in various finance meetings with state officials. VIGIL was elected
as State Treasurer in November 2002 and 100k office in January 2003. Like MONTOY A, VIGIL
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extracted payments or campaign contributions as a condition of doing business with the NMSTO.
From January 2002 to March 2005, NELSON received $585,397 incommissions from repurchase
agreements. He transferred approximately $324,010 to CW2, who then provided VIGIL with
campaign contributions and cash, CW2 began recording his/her conversations with VIGIL in the
summer of 2003 and continued to record conversations in cooperation with the FBlin 2004 and
2005.

In the fall of 2003, CW1 was investigated by United States Secret Service for
manufacturing counterfeit money at the NMSTO., CW1 recorded several conversations with
MICHAEL MONTOY A in December 2003 regarding what he should say if the investigation
expanded to other areas. During thistime much of the NMSTO funds were lied up in longer term
deals which MONTOY A had completed prior 1o leaving office and which penerated larger
commissions, Theeffect of the investipation and the financial deals completed by MONTOY A was
that VIGIL did not have large amounts of funds to distribute unnl November/December 2004,

On orabout Apnl 7,2004, CW2 made a consensually recorded telephone callto KENT
NELSON. During this conversation NELSON and CW2 talked about VIGIL's hesitancy to do
financial deals afier the legal issues with CW 1. Based oninterviews with CW2, this conversation
also discussed that $35,000 had already been paid 1o VIGIL, that VIGIL only contacts CW?2 and
NELSON when he needs money and that he added security cameras tothe NMSTO eventhough

the security was unrelated to the manufacturing of counterfeit money by CW1,

- . bt

According 1o CWZ, kickbacks to VIGIL often occurred in the form of expensive tickets
for political fund raisers; the purchase of wood and supplies to build an additional room on VIGIL's
home; and donations to charities, such as Big Brothers Big Sisters, inwhich VIGIL's wife VIOLA,
participates. VIGIL is well aware that certain regulations severely restrict campaign contribution by
brokers, but he has devised several ways around the regulations. Forexample, G-37, titled Political
Contributions and Prohibitions on Municipal Securities Business, isinfended to promote free trade
by prohibiting brokers, dealers and municipal securities dealers from engaging in mumicipal securities

10
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business after contributing more than $250 dollars 1o an official who exercises control over municipal
financing. The following conversations demonstraie VIGIL's frustration and anger with brokers whao
would notcontribne and often cited G-37. VIGIL even states at one point that MONTOY A had

not tested the waters on chanitable contributions relating to broker conuributions. Although altrasne

\ in appearance, the charitable contributions had the same effect as cash; they were quid pro quo for
Ebusi'n:ss with the New Mexico State Treasurer's Office.
VIGIL's knowledge of the contribution requirements is evident in the following
CONVErsations.
On or about March 23, 2004, CW2 had a consensually recorded conversation with
ROBERT VIGIL. The following is excerpted from this conversation.
VIGIL: " ©fie thing went 1o shit, 1 mean be, we went, T have this ane broker

Ahat {UT) send him some uh tickets to a you know charity,

'=3 Yeah

Vic {L'T) oue, one, one (UD

CW2 Who's that?

VIGIL: Uh U-B-5. _

CW2: Oh U-B-87 What does U-B-5S stand for?

VIGIL: I don’t know, but...

CW2: Union...

VIGIL: bunch of maybe they cail him and say that. G-37 doesn't allow

him to dothat no. Where is therea law that doesn't allow you 1o
help kids vou know? Bunch of bullshit, but..,

CW2: (UT) ask him to help you for a charity or something?

VIGIL: "‘Cause you knowthey don't helpyou. See for for (UT) they say
ohI'ma G-37, Tcan'tdo that. Okay well (U} Michael never
never tested them with charities{em phasis added) so (UI}
small company but, so I just (UT) That's one (Ul so they came
down and 100k me to dinner. 1didn't even wanna talk to them.

A L T —




Later in the conversation:

VIGIL:

CW2

CWZ:
VIGIL:

I said fuck 1 {UT) brought me to the office, so George told her
said yeah {UI) so | gotta go back and ask George thers’s 2.
there's these brokers (U} oo much money and (UT)whyinthe |
fuck did you have (UL} why don't you tell me which brokersare
telling that know. Sure aren't vour friends. They're. ] don't think !
there's any brokers that (UI) George because none of vour }
broker friends ever give me a piece of shit(emphasis added)

and I never asked them for nothan’. !

I haven't even decided vet. He he's been working on it, but |
didn't know why it's taking him so long so (UT) how to, how to
make money for himself uh he's trying to figure outa way how 1o
set himselfup. Isaid shit, can't even 2o to my party (Ul) how
do 1 expect (UT) I'm already giving you plenty of
money.(emphasis added) You don't need to make any more.
He wants more money. MNo.

Well I'm not much to complain, but you know 1'm just just
you know since the golf tournament [ personally [ gaveyou
close to nine thousand dollars then 'cause, I paid for it and
I gave you five, then I gave you three thousand dollars for
my brother and then for the basketball tournament, but |
didn't, "cause the only two deals that I got was the fifty

million that Kent got one in January, and then he got that

one for twenty-five million, but hey that's that's not much

now. {emphasis added) That breaks me even.
(Overtalking)

(U1 something...

(Ul) Kent has made us some pretty pood money.(emphasis

12 |
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CW2:

VIGIL:

CW2:
VIGIL.:

added)

Shit he's made some damn, well the lest two deals he he splitit
with Michael, that's why, and ] told him ifhe got, if vou do one or
you can do it June and July if they come up (UT} He says uh you
know he'll give me, give me the portion that that that's coming to
me. [ need something...

1 know he's been, like I say he's been uh, he's made some made
some pretty good money (UT)

But has he taken care of vou well or not?{emphasis added)
No (UL not much for me. I mean uh | mean [ can't can't

complain (LI} (emphasis added)

On or about June §, 2004, CWZ made a consensually recorded telephone call to
ROBERT VIGIL. The following are excerpted from this call.

CW:
VIGIL:
CWa
VIGIL:
CW
VIGIL:

VIGIL:

W2
VIGIL:

And later in the conversation:

CW2:

%o what iz VIOLA coliectine money for what uh fund raiser?
We're doin' 2, we're doin' Big Brother Big Sister {UT)

Oh Big Brother, Big Sister. |

(U}

Should a asked me and ['d a helped her out.

Well no we, there's a lot of these guys (UI)

Yeah.

(U} I I can't ask "em for political campaigns{emphasis
added) so they (U

Yeah.

Might as well ask them for something, (emphasis added)
but...

You know I'll give you a shit, between Ken and T well 1'l]

13
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VIGIL:
W2
VIGIL:

CW2:

VIGIL:

CW2:
VIGIL:
CW2
VIGIL:

CW2:

give you a third of what we get.(emphasis added)
Yeah I mean 1 1just. 1 (UT)

Could help you build vour fence or whatevet.

No what I need is 1 peed to build up my campaign
fund. (emphasis added) That's the bottom line

Some, 1'll give you a third for yeur campaign fund.(emphasis
added)

Oh 11 hope you (UI) you know...
Ye..

-.{UT} sure you know like | say once...

Robert, that's not a problem. We will help you in October.
So I'm gonna, soon as I get my fire out I'll get vou
some{emphasis added), see if youcan start contactin' some of
the (U

Uh you get ‘em for me, you know ['ll de it for your (UT)

And further in the conversation, it becomes apparent that campaign contributions are not the only

means of payment:

CWz:

WIGIL:

CW2:

Mo if if you, if you see the rates grow, you can do a flex repo.
Whatever we do, I'll give you a third on that{emphasis
added) and I'll...

I know once, once the rates go up and it's it's just I mean the
spread between, you know I I mean (UT) but we didn't, | mean
we didn't, we tried to uh | mean, yeah we're geriing alot of money
inour (U1} just the the way it was structured. It was how, it was
howto, I couldn't even done the the TRANS onit. It was like uh
Well if you can do something that works out, [ apprecaae it, but

T'li make a deal for you come in for a place,

14
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VIGIL:
CW2:

WIGIL:
CW2:

(L)

Yeah I'll give it 10 vou in cash or whatever and whatever's
gonna benefit you.

Yeah I'll play that.

‘Cause 1o be honest with you, I really in a situation where [ need

same help now.

O or about August 15, 2004 two FBIempEn}rmt_'UCE}m in an undercover capacity
made a consensually recorded telepbone call to VIGIL. During this call the UCE and VIGIL talked

about the set up of brokers and advisors in the NMSTO. The following is excerpled from this

Cconversation.

VIGIL:

UCE 1:
VIGIL:

UCE 2:
VIGIL:

No different than what you're doing. L1, Tdon't know how, how
they handle that, uhm, that's why [ say, I'm sure they're not setup
for that kind of, orthey are, or thev're not. | don't, I don't know
how they, vouknow. Inthe...in the equity business, what you're
seeing is, is they're called more consultanis, Okay?

Un huh. -

© And, and, vouknow, [, and I see that, not so much in my, inmy

side, but] see that a ot like S-1-C{State Investment Council), you
know, you have what, well vou see a lot of thern actually, big time
third party consultanis.

Well that's....

That, that's what it's become. I mean, out there it's become a
third party consultant world, So that the 1hu1i parties basically
aren't, aren't, ah, aren't restri, restricted for alarge part for
what they do with their money, and that, that's basically. [
mean, in my field of the political environment, that's what I

see happening. Okay7{emphasis added)
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UCE 1:
VIGIL:

Uh huh.

Because you have this broker, G-37, people can't make
contributions so, so, what they, what they've gone around
with is they've sotten this consultant, third party consaltant
group, ah, that's what they're using. (emphasis added) |
rnean, that, sothat, ah, in essence, [ mean, you see itinthe, ah.in.
in specifically, [ mean, they use a lot ofthose like, ah, like athird
party will become a, 1 guess they contract with thres, four, five,
six different firms, and I guess they promote their business.
{Emphasis added) Right?

On or about August 16, 2004, CW2 had a consensually recorded conversation with
ROBERT VIGIL. The following is excerpted from this conversation. Earlier in this conversation
CW?2 and VIGIL discussed previous kickbacks to former New Mexico Treasurer MICHAEL

MONTOYA and campaign contributions.

VIGIL:

CW-

VIGIL:
CW:

VIGIL:

CW:

He does the TRANS deals. Eemember he's the one thal, used 1o
be on MICHAEL's(UI). Hewanted to do the reinvestment oo,
He never pave he never gave MICHAEL a single penny.

I don't know i think you know MICHAEL said he got some from
himn but a every time that a...

No he...

~everytime KENT did a trans he would make that much money
but he'd give MICHAEL a third.

Well KENT hasn't said me nothing for two times I've given
him stuff,

Last time he got something you gave him twenty-five

million. Doesn't make very much on that.
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In your Affiant’s experience, and through conversations with Cooperating Witnesses.
conversations with the Undercover Employees and as indicated in the above manscripts. VIGIL is
well aware of the resrictions regarding campaign contributions from brokers and is aware that
advisors are being used to avoid those rules. VIGIL is also discussing how brokers now "promote”
their business by having third party advisors contribute in excess of campaign limitations by G-37.
The conversations also demonstrate VIGIL's anger when NELSON has not paid him afier receiving
deals.

Ents

On or about May 2, 2005, a Cooperating Wimess (CW3) personally delivered 511,500
in cash 1o VIGIL in exchange for future repurchase agreement business, CW3 isknown o your
Affian: and the above payment, and preceding telephone conversations, were corrobarzted by FBI
surveillansce and monitoring. On April 22, 2005 CW3 called VIGIL. Inthis conversation, VIGIL
first told C'W3 that he needed $1,500 minimurm 1o cover the costs of a fund-raising dinner. VIGIL
later rn:it:ra.t::;'., "at Jeast that”, in referving to the $1,500. VIGIL |ater stated that he was owed
$10,000 by CW2. CW3 had already paid CW2Z 543,000 a1 the end of March 2005 and was

{surprised that CW2 owed VIGIL money.

CW3 amranged to meet VIGIL the following week to discuss business. In VIGIL's State
of New Mexico Treasurer's Office vehicle, CW3 provided two separate payments to VIGIL. One
paymentwas for $1,500 and was to be used fora campaign fund-raising dinner for VIGIL'snext
State Treasurer campaign. This was provided in $100 bills in an envelope. The second payment was
$10,000 cash specifically for fiture business with the NMSTO. During the conversation between
CW5 and VTGIL, W3 specifically siated that he could not give the 3 10,000 Without fumure business,
VIGIL tock the envelope containing $100 bills, looked inside and placed the cash under the front seat
of the car and immediately stated that the business was no problem. Attheend of the conversation
VIGIL told C'W3 that a repurchase agreement would be available at the end of the week or early the
following week. VIGIL called CW3 the following week 10 begin the repurchase agreement.
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Onor about August 24, 2005, CW3 personally delivered 31,900 w0 VIGIL as pavment
for a recently completed repurchase agreement.  Additionally VIGIL instructed CW3 as w
distribution of an additional §3,000. CW3 is known to your Affram and the above payment. and

! | preceding telephone conversations, were cormoborated by FBI surveillance and monitonng.

On or about August 21, 2005 CW3 placed a consensually recorded call to ROBERT
VIGIL. During thisecall, CW3 and VIGIL walked about the small commission CW3 was toreceive
fram the repurchase agreement just completed by CW3 for the NMSTO. CW3 noted his
commission as approximately $1 3,300, This was significantly less than anticipated. During the
conversation with VIGIL, VIGIL stared, at least three times, that he was surprised at the small
ammount of the commission. CW3 offered 10 fly 1o New Mexico to visit VIGIL. Afier hearing the
commission amount, VIGIL stated that a plane ticket was costly and maybe CW3 should not come
to New Mexico and should send him acheck instead. W3 had not mentioned any payments 1o
VIGIL prior to this statement.

Each time that VIGIL stated that the cornmission was small, he followed it by asking for
money. Inone instance VIGIL stated that he had some requesis that CW3 could help with by
sending checks, Toward the end ofthe conversation, VIGIL stated that he gets requests for money
from nther campaipns and he would contact CW3 to pay those monelary reguests.

On August 22, 2005 CW3 placed a consensually monitored telephone call o ROBERT
VIGIL. During this call VIGIL advised CW3 that he was available tomeet on August 24, 2005, On
August 24, 2005, VIGIL picked up CW3 at the Albuquergue airport. While parked tna New
Mexico State Treasurer's car, VIGIL reiterated that CW3's commission was less than expected.
CW3 atiempted to provide §5,000 in cash to VIGIL. VIGIL took $1,900 in cash and began o
instruct CW3 as to where portions of the remaining $3,000 of his money should be paid.
Specifically VIGIL stated that he donates to numerous campaigns throughout New Mexico in
exchange for their help in hus campaign, VIGIL instructed C'W3 that he would call CW3 with the
requests for donations and that CW3 would write the appropriate check and send it to VIGIL.
VIGIL advised that he had already promised $1,000 to one campaign. Atonepoint in the meeting,
VIGIL provided specific campaigns 1o which he wanted donations made including his own State
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Treasurer campaign, Immediatety after receiving the $1,900 in cash, VIGIL talked about funds

available soon for imvestment and discussed the availability of funurs repurchase agreements at length
with CW3.

CW3 has also provided information which has been independently corroborated through
bank records, travel records and interviews and has made numerous consensual recordings which
have been mdependently corroborated through telephone records and surveiliance, CW3 is
scheduled to plead guilty on September 14, 2005 10 a violation of Title 18 United States Code 1341;
using the mails in furtherance of a scheme to defraud by depriving the people of the State of New
Mexico the intangible right of honest services by their public officials

Onther Illegal Acts
Dwuring the last four months of MONTOY A% term in office, MONTOYA's focus wasto

generate asmany cormmissions for NELSON as possible, thus providing him with more cash. One
of the investments MONTOY A atiempted was 1o invest in mutual funds, Although this was against
the state investment policy, higher commissions are paid on these transactions, MONTOY A was
able to complete one mutual fund purchase vsing NELSON, The deal produced approximately
828,700 in commissions 1o NELSON. Inearly 2003, efter receiving the commission, the New
Mexico Board of Finance became concerned with the purchase and VIGIL rescinded the purchass,

20 | | This caused NELSON to retum his commission and MONTOY A did not receive his portion of the

21

commussion. The commissions from this investment would have paid MONTOYA for several years
after leaving office. CW2 estimates that the commissions for this deal were worth approximately
$800,000 over the life of the purchase. According to CW1 and CW2, MONTOYA has never
forpiven VIGIL for withdrawing the deals and feals that VIGIL owes him the commissions from these
deals,

During VIGIL sterm, he has struggled with waysto pay MONTOYA the money owed
from therescinded deal. VIGIL first offered MONTOY A a Deputy Treasurer position which he

refused. Then, in a consensually recorded conversation betwesn CW?2 and VIGIL on or about
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March 23, 2004, VIGIL stated that MONTOY A was trving lo get him to hire SAIS. The pay
offered by VIGIL was $47,000 but MONTOYA wanted approximately $60,000. VIGIL's
response 1o CW2 was that you know that SAIS would never come 1o work and SATS was not hired.

kn another aftempt to furnnel money 1o MONTOY A, VIGIL was asked to furme] business
g MELSON whom VIGIL believed had hired SALS as an employee. Ina recorded conversation
[ an or about August 16, 2004, CW2 asked if MONTOY A had asked VIGIL o give business to
NELSON. VIGIL responded that MONTOY A has not but SAIS has. Inaprevious conversaion,
VIGIL noted that MONTOY A used SAIS as his conduit to VIGIL. Later in this same conversation,
VIGIL sard 10 CW2 "ell KENT to send me a linle bit of money™; "just so he contributes to my
campaign.”

In 2005 the question of NELSON hiring SAIS is again brought up. In a recorded
conversation on or ebout February 2, 2005, CW2 and VIGIL discussed NELSON hiring SAIS in
response to MONTOY A pressuring NELSON for money. VIGIL stated that NELSON showuld hire
! SAIS, paying her $500 10 $1,000 per month. VIGIL stated she should be hired as a third party
consultant, Thas isthe same terminology used by VIGIL with FBI Undercover Employess when
deseribing how to avoid campaion laws.  Additdonally, the amount{$1,000) suggested by VIGIL
1o pay SAIS is used in the extortion described below.

During a conversation with & Cooperating Witness (CW4), who is cooperating with the
FBL, which wasrecorded and surveilled by Special Agents ofthe FBL, SAIS and MONTOY A wld
W4 that VIGIL had not followed through on two instances whers SAIS was supposed 1o receive
payments from NELSON. These payments were in support of the money owed to MONTOYA by
VIGIL.

In the summer of 2004, another opportunity 1o pay MONTOY A using SAIS arose. The
NMSTO was considering a position for a new securities lending oversight manager(SLOM),
Securities lending is another investment vehicle which is allowed by state investment policy but not

previously used by the NMSTO. The SLOM position would receive commissions much like the
investment advisor position. VIGIL told C'W2 that SAIS would work for the SLOM who was
already selected. VIGIL foresaw this as a way 1o consistently pay MONTOYA.
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CW4 was a part time employee who worked closely with VIGIL on the Request for
Proposal(RFP) for the SLOM and intended 1o apply for the position. C'W4 believed that he would
win the SL.OM position leng before it was adventised. Partofthis belief was based on VIGIL's
soliciting CW4 1o hire a friend's wife who needed a job and stating C'W4 should hire her afier he won
the bid. CW4 ignored these requests as he did not nesd any employees. According 1o CW2, CW4
was the "selected" advisor referenced by VIGIL in the summer of 2004, Although C'W4 was
"selected” by VIGIL in the summer of 2004, CW4 was unaware of VIGIL's intention uniil they began
to work on the RFP in late 2004,

In betwesn the summer of 2004 and the issuance of the RFP in April 2005, VIGIL hired
SAIS in January 2005 asa lobbyist for the NMSTO during the state legislative session. Aecording
to CWZ, this was merely another way to pay MONTOY A, a5 SAIS had no lobbying experience.
VIGIL paid SAIS approximately 512,000,

On or about Apil 15,2005, the RFP for the SLOM position was advertised. On April
15,2005, CW4 resigned his position with the NMSTO 1o pursue the SLOM position. CW4
provided to the FBI copies of the RFP, his response to the RFP and lenters with the NMSTO related
1o hiring SAIS. CW4 also recorded conversations with VIGIL, SAIS and ANN MARIE
GALLEGOS. GALLEGOS is the Depury Assistant Treasurer who was the contact point for the
SLOM RFP.

Shontly after resigning, CW4 received increased pressure from VIGIL 1o hire SAIS. CW4
did not fee| that it wasa request, but rather an ultimatum. In early May 2005, CW4 received notice
that he was selected as the SLOM. On or about this time, CW4 recorded a conversation with
GALLEGOS. During this copversation GALLEGOS talls C'W4 that the hiring of SAIS s "his call”.
She also states that CW4 could help them, meaning VIGIL, out witha problem by hiring SAIS. At
the end of the conversation GALLEGOS states that she cannot force him to hire SAIS but
GALLEGOS thinks that it would take a [ot of pressure off VIGIL,

After being old he won the bid, VIGIL told CW4 to come 1o an agresment with SAIS.
VIGIL advised that SAIS would take $1,000 per month. CW4 refused stating that SAIS did not
possess any special skills and was not needed, VIGIL insisted and C'W4 met with SAIS. SAIS told
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CW4 that VIGIL owed MONTOY A "political favors” and that the money was for MONTOY A,
SAIS stated that she wanted a $55,000 salarv 1o start immediatelv, SAIS did notoffer to perform
any work functions. CW4 could not justify paying SAIS £55,000 and refused. After further
conversations with VIGIL and GALLEGOS, CW4 metagain with SAIS whers he offered 40% of
the net profits. SAIS refused siating that she wanted 40% of the gross profits. CW4's last offer was
4% of the net profits. Based on his conversations with VIGIL and SAIS, CW4 completed an
i addendurn to the RFP, based on his last offer, for a potential subcontractor position for SAIS. Other
than this addendum, there is no mention of SAIS in the RFP, response to the RFP or the SLOM
COmtract
On May 27, 2005, CW4 signed a Professional Service contract for the SLOM position.
The contract was to beginJuly 1, 2005, OnlJune 13, 1{505 CW4 telephoned VIGIL. During that
conversation, VIGIL stated that :if CW4 did not hire SAIS, he would pull the SLOM contract. CW4
understood that SALS was to recejve whatever she asked for in order for CW4 1o keep the SLOM
contract. C'W4 did not believe VIGIL would pull the contract as it was not logical to pay SAIS.
CW4, in a letter dated June 13, 2005, referenced the conversation with VIGIL and previous
conversations with GALLE'J_EGE and stated thar both VIGIL and GALLEGOS have indicated that
i CW4 did not give SALS whatever compensation she requested that VIGIL would reissue the RFFP
for the SLOM regardless of the signed contract by CW4. In a letter dated June 23, 2003,
GALLEGOS states, in part, that failure 1o reach an agreement with SAIS would result in the SLOM
contract offer being withdrawn by July 8, 2005. Finally DAVE ROMERO, attomey for the
NMSTO, sent a lenter dated July 15, 2005 which terminated any contract with CW4.,
Approximately two weeks later, at the direction of the FBI, CW4 contacted SAIS 10
renegotiate her percentage of the commissions. SAIS advised that VIGIL would reinstate the
SLOM contract if they came to an agreement. C'W4 met with SAIS and MONTOY A, and ina
recorded conversation. MONTOY A stated that VIGIL owes him and VIGIL hesonly paid $20.000
for all he has done for VIGIL. CW4, SAIS, and MONTOYA agreed upon 40% of gross
commissionsto be paid 1o SAIS on behalf of MONTOYA. SAILS later advised that VIGIL wasto
reissue the RFP numritlmandlirrg their agreement. On orabout August 10, 2003 a new RFP was
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1ssued for the SLOM and a newly created Information Technology(1T) position was added for
SAIS. Alsochanged inthe RFP was the provision for the SLOM to pay a third party for services
as well as now allowing for subcontractors. Based on conversations with CW4 and vour Affiant's
knowledge of the investigation, these changes to the RFP were instituted to more easily pay SAIS
using outside contractors like the SLOM.

| VIGIL during his tenure in office has used his position as New Mexico Swute Treasurer
1o extorn campaign contributions and payments from those wishing to do business with the NMSTO;
has used his position to fores the hiring of specific persons in exchange for contracts with the
NMSTO and has used his position to facilitare the payment of kickbacks owed to the previous Sune
Treasurer MICHAEL MONTOYA.,

NEED FOR SEARCH WARRANT
Based upon vour Affiant’s knowledge, training, and experience, and participation n other
public corruption and money laundering investigzations, and based on observations during this
investigation, Your Affiant knows that:
A. individuals who participate in racketeering activities routinely conceal in their residences,
businesses and in the residences of their co-conspirators and associates, large amounts of currency,
financial instruments, precious metals, jewelry, sutomobile titles and other items of value andfor

procesds of racketesring and money laundering activities and evidence of financial transactions

relating to obtaining, transferring, secreting, or spending large sums of money made from engaging in

kickbacks, money laundering and other illegal activities.
According to CW1, CW1 purchased sports memorabilia, cars and otheritems using the
proceeds from the racketeering activity on behalfof MONTOYA. Thess items were
routinely kept at MONTOYA's residence, storage and properties, Additionally,
MONTOYA did not deposit the cash paid to him into any bank accounts, NELSON
has purchased rwo vehicles, several properties and started an investment account from
the proceeds of racketeering aclivity.

B. individuals who engage in racketeering activities receive profits and that they attempt 1o legitimize
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these profits. To accomplish these poals, these individuals urilize false and hiettious business records,
foreign and domestic banks, securities, cashier's checks, money drafis, lenters of credit, brokerage
.hauaes. real estate shell corporations and business fronts.
MONTOY A routinely used othars to hide his illegal proceeds. According to CW1, cash
was deposited into ROZELLA HAYNES (MONTOY A's sister) bank account to be
withdrawn for him. This included the purchase of the six acre Sichler Road property
which was purchased by CW1 and HAYNES for MONTOYA. Vehicles were
purchased in the name of CW1 10 avoid the appearance of assets for MONTOYA
NELSON issued false IRS 1099 forms to CW?2 detailing the kickback monies.
NELSON provided the forms several years after the stant of the kickbacks 10
MONTOY A. and was inaccurate in the amounts paid 1o CWZ,
C. that persons who engage in illegal activity are not unlike any other individual in our society in that
they maintain documents and records. These documents and records will normally be retained for
long periods ef time, regardless of whether their value 1o the individual has diminished. Ofien tmes,
this tvpe of evidence s penerated, maintained and subsequently forgotien about. Hence, documents
that one would normally think a prudent person would deswoy because of their incriminating nature,
are still possessed months, or even years, after they come into the possession of the subject. Ofien
times, these individuals do not even realize the incriminating nature of the documents they kesp. In
fact, ] have parbicipated in the sxecution of search warrants where docurnentary evidence dating back
for ten yearshas been found. Itis also my experience that the larger and more complex a criminal
enterprise is, the more documentary evidence is generated during its course of commuission.
CW1 advised that he provided spreadsheets detailing payments w and from
MONTOY A, the VIGIL campaign, KENT NELSON and others. Copies of these
spreadsheets have been provided to the FEL CW1 provided copies of the spreadsheets
o MONTOYA and CW2. The NMSTO maintains records of all transactions for the
state, This includes contracts entered into with all financial advisors as well as municipal
finance details, RFP's, mesting notes and other ilems necessary to the daily operation ofthe
NMSTO.
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D, money launderers ofien purchase andfor title their assets in fictiious names, aliases or the narmes
ol relatives, associates or business enlities, sspecially those with some means of legitimates income,
who have established a credit history, whose sole purpose is that of 2 "nominee” title holder to avoid
dﬁmiunﬂﬂhma&m&;ﬁ-}' government agencies. Even though these assetsare in names other than
the subject, they are, in fact, the true owners; and continue to utilize and exercise dominion and
control of these assets.

1595 Sichler, Los Lunes, MM was purchased for MONTOYA by ROZELLA HAYNES

and CW1, using money provided by MONTOYA. MONTOYA often used CW 1 1o

purchase items for him.
| E. money launders often urilize sophisticated electronic and communication equipment 1o assist them
intheir racketesring enterprise, £.§. comnputers, facsimile mechines. digital. alpha and voice pagers,
portable and cellular telephones, currency courting machines, telephone answering machines,
electronic storage devices such as personal data assistants and audio and video surveiliance and
counter-surveiliance equipment. Compuier storage devices, such as diskettes, tapes, laser disks,
compact digital disks, personal data assistants and others, can store the equivalent of thousands of
pages of information, Especially when the user wanis 1o conceal criminal evidence, he/she often
stores it in random order with deceptive file names. This requires searching authorities o examine
all the stored data. This sorting process can take weeks or months, depending on the volume of data
stored, and it would be impractical to attempt this kind of data search on site.

All of the subjects in this case have uiilized a computer. NELSON carries two laptop

computers and completes most of his business on them, NELSON also uses the computers

at his home office. The NMSTO conducts business by email, generates documents and

maintains detailed transaction sceounts, VIGIL conducts NMSTO business and eampaign

business using email. MONTOY A uses a computer to purchase items on line and 1o email
VIGIL atthe NMSTO. SAIS has used the computer to access the NMSTO website for

BEFP information.
F. money launders often take, orcause 10 be taken, photographs of themselves, members of their
organization, professionals who provids money laundering services, travel destinations, and their
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assets, These photographs are usually maintained by the subjects in their residences or other
lecations over which they exercise dominion and control; and
CW1 provided a picture of a vehicle thar he purchased on behalf of MONTOYA.
G. itis vour Affiant's experience that kickbacks are often paid using currency so 2310 be untraceable
and along with the manner in which the currency is handled, carried and concealed, mav establish a
connection between the questionable currency and a kickback transaction. In yvour Affiant's
expenience unexplained wealth is probative evidence of crim:slmﬂiitralnd by greed, .g. public
cormiption.
According to bank records obtained through Federal Grand Jury subpoensa, prior to being
elected State Treasurer, MONTOYA's financial situation was such that his sister,
ROZELLA HAYNES had to co-sign loans. After election as the State Treasurer, CW1
purchased vehicles for MONTOYA using $30,000-40,000 cash provided by
MONTOYA. CW1 has been 1old by MONTOY A that he purchased tens of thousands
of doliars of sports memorabilia. CW1 has seen the memorabilia located in the storage
facility that MONTOY A rents. CW1 has made numerous trips 1o Las Vegas, NV with
MONTOYA. SAIS's bank records support withdrawals of cash in Las Vegas, NV.

Your Affiant believes that probable cause exists for issuance of asearch warrant in this
case. Probable cause is derived from surveillance, physical evidence, review of reports, bank

records, analysis of information received from telephone companies, from conversations with

confidential sources previously identified herein who have personal knowledge of the events
deseribed. Based on my experience and training, and from the experience gained from discussions
with other law enforcement officers whom Lmow to have been primarily involved in investigations
of public corruption and money laundering, | know that the itsms listed in Attachment A constitute
evidence and fruits of ongoing and continuing involverment in public cormuption, rackeirering and the
laundering of the proceeds.
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Over the terms of former New Mexico Swe Treasurer MICHAEL MONTOY A and
current New Mexico Siate Treasurer ROBERT VIGIL, kickbacks and bribes have been paid 1o
MONTOY A and VIGIL based upon investments conductsd on behalf of the State Treasurer's Office
and on behalf of the State of New Mexico. Asastate government office, the New Mexico Sune
Treasurer's Office is likely to have stored documents and records from the underlving investments
from which these kickbacks and bribes were paid. CW1 and CW4, who both worked in the
NMSTO, advised that both computer and hard copy records are kept at the NMSTO.

SPECIFICS OF SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF COMPUTER SYSTEMS

Based upon the Affiant's knowledge, training, and experience and the experience of other
law enforcement personnel, your Affiant knows that searches and seizures of evidence from
computers commonly require agents to seize most or all computer items(hardware, software and
instructions) 1o be processed larer by a qualified computer expert in a controlled environment. This
is almost always true because of the following:

Computer storage devices(such as hard diske dickenes, compact digital disks and others)
can store the equivalent of thousands of pages of information. Especially when the user wants 1o
conceal criminal evidence, he/she often stores it in random order with deceptive filenames. This
requires searching authorities 1o examine all the stored data to determine whether it is included in the
warrant. This sorting process can take weeks or months, depending on the volume of deta stored,
and it would be impractical 1o attempt this kind of data search on site,

Searching computer systems for criminal evidence is a highly technical process requiring
expert skill and 2 properly controlled environment. The vast amray of computer ha;-dwm and
software available requires cven computer experts 1o specialize in some systems and applications, so
it is difficult to know before a search which expert should analyze the systems and its data.

Thesearch of acomputer systern is an exacting and scientific procedure which is designed
to protect the integrity of the evidence and to recover even "hidden", erased, compressed, password-
pratected, or encrypted files. Since computer evidence is extremely vulnerable to tampering or
destruction({both from external sources or from destructive code imbedded in the system as 2 "booky
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trap”) the conwolled environment of a laboratory is essential 1 its complete and accurate analysig

in order to fully rerrieve data from a computer system, the analyst needs al! magnetic

storage devices as well as the central processing unit(CPU), Inaddition the analyst needs all the
svstemn sofrware{operating systems or interfaces and hardware drivers) and any applications sofrware
which may have beenused (o create the datal whether stored on hard drives or on extemal media),
_ In addition there is probable cause to believe that the computer and i1s storape devices, the
menitor, keyboard, and modem are all instrumentalities of the erimes of money laundering and

racketeering which is in violation of law and should be seized as such.

DEFINITIONS

The tevm "computer” used herein, is defined pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1030(e)(1), 25 "an electronic, magnetic, optical, electrochemical, or other high speed data
processing devics performing logical or storage functions, and includes any data storage facility or
communication facility directly related 10 or operating in conjunction with such a device”.

The terms "records”, "documents”, and "materials" inciude all information recorded in any
form, visual or sural including the ongmals and all non-idengcal copies thereof, whether different from
the original by reason of any notation made on such copies or otherwise, including, but not limited 1o
the following:

& Written or prinied matter of any kind, correspondence , memoranda, notes,
diaries, statistics, letters, telephone toll records, telegrams, contracts, reports, checks, statements,
receipis, summaries, pamphlets, books, ledgers, journals, registers, records, vouchers, slips, bills,
calendars, pads, notebooks, files, logs, lists, bulletins, credit materials, databases, teletypes, invoices,
worksheers,

| b. The terms "records”, "documents”, and “materials" include all of the foregoing
in whatever form and by whatever means the records, documents, or materials, their drafts, or their
maodifications may have been created or stored, including but not limited 10, any handmade form with
anty implement on & surface either directly or indirectly; any photographic form; any mechanical form
such typing; any electrical, electronic, or magnetic form({such astape recordings, cassettes or compact
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dises or any information on an electronic or magnetic storage device such as floppy diskenes. CD-
ROMS, optical discs, printer buffers, smart cards. memory calculators, electronic dialers, Bermoulli
drives, or electronic notebooks, as well as printouts or readouts from any magnetic device).

| The Affiant also knows that computer hardware, sofiware, documentation, passwords and
data security devices may be imponant to criminal investigation in two distinct and imporant respects:
(1) the objects themselves may be instrumentalities, fruits, or evidence of crime and/or (2) the objects
themselves may have been used to collect and store information about a erime(in the form of
electronic data). Rule 41 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure permits the governmer to
search and seize computer hardware, software, documentation, passwords, and data security devices
which are (1) instrumentalities, fruits, or evidence of crime or (2) storage d::mril-::ts for information
about crime.

Rule 41 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procadure authorize the government to seize and
retain evidence and instrumentalities of a crime for reasonable time, and to examine, analyze, and test
them. In consultation with the FBI computsr examiner, the numbers of haurs nesded 1o examine and
analyze the computers onsite is large. Ifafterexamination it is determined that there isno evidence
on the computers, they will be returned.

In order to completely and accurately retrieve data maintained in the computer software,
allitems 1o be seized will be processed by a qualified compiter excaminer at the issuance of this search

warrant.

It1s your Affiant's opinion, expertise and experience, and based on the results of the
investigation of this particular organization, that MICHAEL A. MONTOYA, SAMANTELA SAIS-
MONTOYA, ROBERT E. VIGIL, and others known and unknown, have unlawfully entered into,
confederated, conspired and agreed 1o acts which are in violation of federal laws, to wit: the
interference with interstate commerce under the color of official right, in violationof Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1951(a)(1); interstate transportation in aid of racketzering enterprise, in
violationof Title 18, United States Code, Section 1952(a), receiving income derived from a pattern

af rackctocring activity, s vivlatiug uf Tile 18 Secion 19G2(4), 19062(b) and 19d2(d) and the
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laundering of monetary instruments and engaging in monetary ransactions from specified unlawful
activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 and 1957, Moreover, this
mvestgation has revealed that MONTOY A, 2t. al. and co-conspirators have been committing the
above offenses on a continuous basis since 1999, Specifically, this investipation has revealed from
source information, record checks, financial records, and surveillance that each of the techniques
deseribed above has occurred in this case, e.p. associates, and farnily members have moved money,
stored money, of had the assets of these conspirators put in theirnames. Therefore, there is probable
cause to believe that the types of records 1o be sought will be found in the aforementioned location.

DREW MCCANDLESS, SPECIAL AGENT
FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

Swom 10 before me,."‘ﬂ'l:s. j day af%ﬁt,. 2005
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UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO
CacHARD L PUGLIC:
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